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Spreadsheets don’t 
make decisions . . .

. . . People do.
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Yes 
(85%)

Do you use numerical evaluations 
(other than ordinal ranking) in RFPs?
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“. . . evaluation factors and subfactors must be 
definable in readily understood qualitative terms (i.e., 
adjectival, colors, or other indicators, but not numbers) 
and represent the key areas of importance for 
consideration. Numerical weighting (i.e., assigning 
points or percentages to evaluation factors and 
subfactors) is not an authorized method of expressing 
the relative importance of the factors and subfactors.”

—U.S. Army Federal Acquisition Regulation Supplement
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Department of Defense, Source 
Selection Procedures (4/1/2016)
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“. . . attaching talismanic significance to technical calculations 
that suffer from false precision.” 

“Simple math, indeed, reveals that the agency apparently was willing to pay 
premium of as much as $3.6 million for a technical-ranking advantage of a mere 
one-tenth of a point—seemingly, a huge premium in a procurement in which the 
lowest-priced award went for $21,059,803 and the precision of the ratings was 
in question.” 

—Serco, Inc. v. United States, United States of Court of Federal Claims,
No. 07-691C, March 5, 2008)



Some laws may require numbers . . .
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If a request for best and final offers is issued 
because two or more proposals received an 
identical evaluation score that is the highest 
score: . . .

Utah Statute § 63G-6a-707.5 (6)



Errors and Biases in 
Decision Making
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Decision Errors
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• Confirmation bias
• Recency or availability (familiarity) bias
• Low bid & High bid/Quality bias*
• Anchoring bias, e.g. halo/horns effect
• Variation in evaluator certainty
• Social influence: more anchoring?
• Groupthink

*Bonfire,  NIGP Webinar 092619: 5 Mistakes You Might Be 
Making in Your RFP Evaluations and How To Avoid Them



Never see prices until after 
award (2%)

After initial 
evaluation (18%)

Evaluators see entire 
proposal (50%)

Just before 
final award 

determination 
(27%)

After technical evaluation 
& BAFOs complete (3%)

Which of the following best describes your practice regarding 
access to pricing by the evaluation committee?
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It is much easier to identify a minefield when you 
observe others wandering into it than when you are 
about to do so. Observers are less cognitively busy and 
more open to information than actors. 

— Daniel Kahneman, Thinking Fast and Slow

Collaboration
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There are “wise crowds,” whose mean judgment is 
close to the correct answer, but there are crowds that 
follow tyrants . . ., or that are under the sway of a 
shared illusion. . . And because of the dynamics among 
group members—our emphasis here—the level of 
noise can be high.

—D. Kahneman, O. Sibony, C. Sunstein, Noise: A Flaw                         
in Human Judgment (2021)



Evaluation Committee 
Decisions
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Past Experience/Demonstrated capability

Evaluator 1 5
Evaluator 2 4
Evaluator 3 0
Evaluator 4 4
Evaluator 5 3
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Evaluations Generally

• Comply with law re: disclosure of criteria
• Pay attention to price weight; rating 

scale segmentation*
• Discuss as a committee the criteria, 

standards, tradeoffs*
• Have evaluators discuss score variation*
• Use a memo to explain the award 

decision: the “determination”

*Bonfire,  NIGP Webinar 092619: 5 Mistakes You Might Be 
Making in Your RFP Evaluations and How To Avoid Them







No 
(92%)
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The technical factors will be assessed based on the soundness of 
the proposers’s approach and understanding of the requirement. 
The experience and/or demonstrated capabilities factor will be 
assessed by considering the extent to which the qualifications, 
experience, and past performance are likely to foster successful, on-
time performance. The evaluation may include assessment of risk of 
greater than expected contract administration resources to 
promote successful performance. While numerical scoring may be 
used as an aid in the evaluation, the selection ultimately is a 
business judgment that will reflect an integrated assessment of the 
relative merits of proposals using the factors identified in this RFP.
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Technical & 
Functionality

4 •         Proposes a sound approach that meets all requirements, exceeding 
mandatory functionalities in many respects.  Requires only clarification of 
minor ambiguities, and requires no proposal revisions to conform to States’ 
requirements

good •         Good understanding of project, recognizing some non-obvious 
dependencies that demonstrate more than just surface understanding of the 
requirement in the context of the program’s environment 

Low risk of unacceptable or late performance; States’ involvement not likely to 
exceed normal contract administration.
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4 •         Offeror and its personnel are well qualified and have meaningful, directly 
relevant experience with projects substantially equivalent in scope to this 
project 

good •         Past performance, experience, and qualifications create favorable 
impressions about offeror’s ability to complete the project on-time or perhaps 
early

Not more than low risk that experience, past performance history, and qualifications 
would threaten acceptable and on-time performance;  State involvement not likely to 
exceed normal contract administration, and involvement will not exceed available 
resources or expected States’ involvement necessary to make the solution viable and 
achieve successful completion on-time.

Experience/ 
Demonstrated 

Capability







Score only for initial 
evaluation/no revisions 

(12%)

May adjust but 
consensus for final 
evaluation (39%)

Adjust scores after 
discussions and orals; 
scores become final 

(49%)

Which of the following best describes your practice 
regarding revisions to scores by the committee?



• List RFP evaluation criteria
• Briefly describe process used 

and outlined in evaluation plan
• Recite RFP award language
• Summarize key strengths of 

awardee proposal
• Note & resolve not-so-strong 

aspects apparent from 
evaluation scores



• Tie to assessment criteria, e.g. 
understanding of requirements 
and soundness of approach

• If awardee responds better, say so
• Describe cost analysis and 

quantitative difference
• Make determination using RFP 

standard, e.g. best value
• Everyone signs



Reducing Evaluation Risk

27 |  NIGP FORUM 2021 nigp.org

*Bonfire,  NIGP Webinar 092619: 5 Mistakes You Might Be 
Making in Your RFP Evaluations and How To Avoid Them

(the “Consensus” step)

• Evaluation plan that aligns with legislation, policy, 
and the RFP:  A process and record that mirrors it!

• Evaluation standards, e.g. “What’s a 5? a 3?” 
• Spreadsheets that also align; supporting comments
• Some evidence in plan & record of collaboration*
• An award memo that aligns with the RFP, 

evaluation, and evaluator comments 
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How do you use numbers to determine best value?
A. I don’t use numbers for the cost/technical tradeoffs. 
B. The numerical tradeoff represents the best value, and 

the award decision is based on it. 
C. If the committee believes by consensus that the 

numerical selection doesn’t represent best value, the 
committee can select otherwise but documents its 
rationale. 
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Getting Started?  Applications & Awards Maybe?

4 Point Scale
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$ Savings



Richard Pennington, J.D., NIGP-CPP, CPPO
rpennington01@aol.com
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